## APPEAL NUMBERS 23-CV-933 & 24-CV-201



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 03/28/2024 03:03 PM Filed 03/28/2024 03:03 PM

## **CARL BERNSTEIN**

## Appellant-Defendant,

vs.

#### LARRY HUANG, et al.

**Appellees-Plaintiffs.** 

## On appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia (Judge Yvonne Williams) 2018-CA-006949-B

## **APPELLANT-DEFENDANT CARL BERNSTEIN'S OPENING BRIEF**

John T. Szymkowicz (D.C. Bar #946079)\* J.P. Szymkowicz (D.C. Bar #462946) SZYMKOWICZ & SZYMKOWICZ, LLP P.O. Box 57333 Washington, DC 20037-0333 (202) 862-8500

**Counsel for Appellant-Defendant Carl Bernstein**

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. May a claim for fraud or for violations of the CPPA survive where the complaint failed to specify what exactly the defendant said or did not say that led to the claims?

2. Must a plaintiff prove each and every element of claims for fraud and for violations of the CPPA?

3. May a plaintiff be held liable for fraud or for violations of the CPPA where the contract at issue contained an integration clause?

4. Must a plaintiff in a CPPA case address all elements of this claim at trial?

5. May the seller of a home be held responsible for the negligence of a thirdparty settlement agent in recording liens?

6. May a judgment for fraud or for violations of the CPPA be based on payments made by the plaintiff pursuant to the contract at issue where the trial

court did not find that the defendant committed fraud or violated the CPPA with regard to these payments?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves the sale of a to-be-constructed home from the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to Larry Huang and his wife, Samira Huang, and Larry Huang's parents, Jim Huang and Yunzhi Shi Huang. The 1436 Foxhall Road LLC was owned in equal shares by FWI Development, LLC and Cheshire Homes, LLC. FWI Development, LLC is owned by Geoffrey Kuck. Cheshire Homes, LLC is owned by Carl Bernstein and his wife. Carl and Geoffrey, through their LLCs, were both "managers" of the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC who would share in the profits and losses of the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC. The sale of this home was governed by a contract dated April 21-26, 2017. Carl was not listed as the "seller" of this home, nor was he a party to this contract. This contract contained an integration clause that stated:

¶34. ENITIRE AGREEMENT: This Contract will be binding upon the parties and each of their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns. The provisions not satisfied at Settlement will survive the delivery of the Deed and will not be merged therein. This Contract, unless amended in writing, contains the final and entire agreement of the parties and the parties will not be bound by any terms, conditions, oral statements, warranties or representations not herein contained. The interpretation of this Contract will be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction where the Property is located. After the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC and the Huangs executed this contract, the parties entered into several "change orders" that covered items such as payment terms, additional items to be constructed on or in the home, and other upgrades. These "change orders" occurred over several months beginning in April 2017 and ending in May 2018. Carl was the project manager of this construction on behalf of the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC until mid-2018 when Geoffrey took over as project manager. Thus, Carl was not liable for Geoffrey's failure to deliver the home to the Huangs as he was no longer managing the property. Nevertheless, Carl attempted to negotiate with the Huangs to increase the sales price of the home in order for them to take clear title to the property, and/or to negotiate with secured lien holders and sub-contractors to adjust the liens, but the Huangs' attorney, Vernon Johnson, would not permit his clients to negotiate with Carl.

When the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC did not close on the home as required by the parties' contract, the Huangs filed suit against the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC, Carl, Geoffrey, and various entities owned by them resulting in the amended complaint that was the subject of the trial in this action. This amended complaint requested monetary damages and declaratory relief and set forth various causes of action, including for fraud, breach of contract, violations of the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act, breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, and conspiracy. The filing of this complaint resulted in the 1436

Foxhall Road LLC filing for bankruptcy protection. Carl filed a motion to dismiss the Huangs' complaint. The trial court denied this motion to dismiss. The parties proceeded to discovery and narrowed the claims for trial by dismissing all defendants except for Carl, by voluntarily withdrawing Samira Huang as a plaintiff, and by dismissing all claims except for fraud and violations of the CPPA. After the remaining parties took depositions of Larry Huang, Jim Huang, Carl, Geoffrey, and several other individuals, discovery closed. Carl then filed a motion for summary judgment. The trial court denied this motion for summary judgment and the parties proceeded to a two-day bench trial on November 2-3, 2022.

After the filing of post-trial briefs, the trial court entered judgment for the Huangs in the amount of \$1,275,193.00 and awarded \$287,966.51 in attorney's fees. Carl filed notices of appeal with regard to the orders denying the motion to dismiss and the motion for summary judgment, the memorandum opinion on liability, the monetary judgment, and the judgment for attorneys' fees.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **General Background of the Case**

This case involves the sale of a to-be-constructed home from the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to the Huangs. The 1436 Foxhall Road LLC was owned in equal shares by FWI Development, LLC and Cheshire Homes, LLC. [697]. FWI Development, LLC is owned by Geoffrey Kuck. [698]. Cheshire Homes, LLC is

owned by Carl Bernstein and his wife. [697-698]. Carl and Geoffrey, through their LLCs, were both "managers" of the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC who would share in the profits and losses of the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC. [851].

#### The Parties' Contract

The sale of this home was governed by a contract dated April 21-26, 2017. [328-362]. This contract does not list Carl as the "seller" of this home, nor was he a party to this contract. [328-362]. No provision of this contract prohibits the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC (or Carl individually) from using funds provided by the Huangs on projects unrelated to the home at issue. [328-362]. This contract did not prohibit Carl from taking a "salary" or "draw." [328-362]. This contract did not prohibit paying off any prior liens on this or any other project in which Carl had a financial interest. Rather, this contract only required the 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC to deliver clear title to the Huangs at closing. [328-362].

This contract contained an integration clause that stated:

¶34. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Contract will be binding upon the parties and each of their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns. The provisions not satisfied at Settlement will survive the delivery of the Deed and will not be merged therein. This Contract, unless amended in writing, contains the final and entire agreement of the parties and the parties will not be bound by any terms, conditions, oral statements, warranties or representations not herein contained. The interpretation of this Contract will be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction where the Property is located. [335]. After the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC and the Huangs executed this contract, the parties entered into several amendments and "change orders" that covered items such as payment terms, additional items to be constructed on or in the home, and other upgrades [363-375]. These "change orders" occurred over several months beginning in April 2017 and ending in May 2018. [363-375].

#### The Huangs' Complaint

When the 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC did not close on the home as required by the parties' contract, the Huangs filed suit against the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC, Carl, Geoffrey, and various entities owned by them resulting in the amended complaint that was the subject of the trial in this action. [443]. [For simplicity, the amended complaint will hereinafter be referred to as "the complaint."]. This complaint requested monetary damages and declaratory relief, and set forth various causes of action, including for fraud, breach of contract, violations of the CPPA, breach of fiduciary duty, conversion and conspiracy. [443]. The filing of the Huangs' original complaint resulted in the 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC filing for bankruptcy. [1-3].

#### **Carl's Motion to Dismiss**

Carl filed a motion to dismiss the Huangs' complaint based on the grounds that (1) the complaint failed to state with particularity the circumstances constituting fraud; (2) the contract at issue had an integration clause; and (3) any

statement Carl made was an opinion or prediction of a future event upon which a plaintiff may not legally rely. [71-94]. In an order dated April 17, 2019, the trial court denied Carl's motion to dismiss on the grounds that the complaint "sets forth that [Geoffrey] and [Carl] made representations that funds advanced by the Plaintiffs would be put towards either the construction of the home or purchase of the real property [order 5], but a review of the pages of the complaint cited by the Court [pages of complaint found at 13-14] fails to reveal any specific statement by Carl that would expose him to liability for fraud or violations of the CPPA. [153-163].

#### **Carl's Motion for Summary Judgment**

The parties proceeded to discovery and narrowed the claims for trial by dismissing all defendants except for Carl, by voluntarily withdrawing Samira Huang as a plaintiff, and by dismissing all claims except for fraud and violations of the CPPA. [95-97, 147-152]. After the remaining parties took depositions of Larry Huang, Jim Huang, Carl, Geoffrey, and several other individuals, discovery closed. [183-274].

After the parties completed discovery, which included depositions of the parties, Carl filed a motion for summary judgment. [183-274]. Carl argued in his motion for summary judgment that (1) the contract at issue did not preclude him from taking funds paid by the Huangs for his "salary" or "draw" (a fact that the

Huangs conceded) and (2) the contract at issue did not preclude him from "commingling" funds received from the Huangs with funds used by him to construct other homes (a fact that the Huangs conceded). [183-197]. Carl's motion for summary judgment listed admissions of Larry Huang during his deposition, including the following:

a. Q: "Are you aware of any facts that indicate that Carl had knowledge that his statements were false?" A: "Yes." Q: "And what is that based on?" A: "Based on the discoveries. They knew that before this house was even sold, I **think** [emphasis added] there was an e-mail that came out from the bank that says – I **think** [emphasis added] Carl mentioned to [Geoffrey] something about I think we found a solution, doing, you know, some kind of solution for our issues so . . . [ellipsis in original]." [224].

b. "I called my dad and we had a discussion and says we need to give this another try because we were going to walk away because of this lack of an agreement, and I was saying that, hey, listen, I **think** [emphasis added] Carl told me that he can deliver, he seems to be genuine and honest about his intentions, so let's talk to him again. Let's make a deal." [223].

c. Q: "Moving on to paragraph 23 [of the 1<sup>st</sup> amended complaint], can you tell me which statements that Carl made that were made to trick you into believing that he and [Geoffrey] would 'take good care of the plaintiffs' funds, that they would manage the construction appropriately to protect those funds and apply them properly, that the purchase price would cover all of the cost incurred prior to the execution of the sales contract, and that they would ensure a genuine and sincere business relationship." A: "**I'm sure it's in an email somewhere**. [emphasis added]. I mean. . [ellipses in original]. Q: "I direct your attention to [Deposition Exhibit 1]. That is the notice of deposition. In the notice of deposition I asked you to bring any and all documents that you believe support your claims against [Carl] and any other documents that you will seek to introduce into evidence at trial. Do you have any documents today that you want to rely on?" MR. CHARDIET: "We have such documents." MR. SZYMKOWICZ: "Okay. Do you want to go through the documents and tell me if any of the documents, you know, reflect any misstatements that Carl made?" THE WITNESS: "Okay." MR. CHARDIET: "While he's looking at it, I would object on the issue of -- I'll let him answer. The deposition is not a memory contest. He can't -- he's capable of telling you which documents are going to refute what you're saying. But as far as he can come up with it, I will allow him to respond, of course." MR. SZYMKOWICZ: "Thank you. And, Mr. Chardiet, I will agree that after the deposition is over that you can look through everything in conjunction with Mr. Huang, and if there's anything that you want to supplement the record, I will be happy to do so." [NOTE: It is important to add that Larry Huang never supplemented his response]. [226-227].

d. Q: "And what were the encumbrances on the house that you discovered?" A: "We discovered that there was at least \$2 million from I **believe** [emphasis added] Washington Bank or Sandy Spring Bank, another I think \$130,000 from this guy who is Carl's friend, Lance Estes." Q: "E-s-t-e-s?" A: "E-s-t or something. He had **some type** [emphasis added] of second trust on it from another – I **think** [emphasis added] like Fox Farm or something like that, LLC." [228-229].

Carl's motion for summary judgment also noted that the Huangs had no proof that he managed the project after Geoffrey took over as project manager. Moreover, Carl's reply to the Huangs' opposition to his motion for summary judgment pointed out that the Huangs did not file a statement of material facts in dispute pursuant to D.C. SCR-Civil 56(b)(2)(B) or citations to the record pursuant to D.C. SCR-Civil 56(c)(1). [289-290]. Nevertheless, the trial court denied Carl's motion for summary judgment. [320-327].

## <u>Non-Jury Trial – November 2-3, 2022</u>

The parties proceeded to a two-day non-jury trial on November 2-3, 2022. During this trial, only two individuals testified – Larry Huang and Carl. Testimony taken at trial is summarized as follows.

## A. <u>Who is Carl Bernstein?</u>

Carl Bernstein is 87 years old, has been involved in the field of home building for 60 years and has built over 4,000 homes. [845-846]. Other than by the Huangs, Carl has never been sued by a homebuyer or had a case filed against him for fraud. [846].

## **B.** <u>Carl's Multiple Statements that He Did Not Commit any Fraud</u><sup>2</sup>

During the trial, Carl testified numerous times about the fact that he did not commit any fraud when dealing with the Huangs, and the following exchange

highlights this testimony:

Q: At the time that money came in, did you make any statements to any of the Huangs that were untrue? A: No. Q: Did you make any false representations to them concerning your abilities or the fact that you were going to build them a house? A: No. Q: Did you make any statements that were untrue as to any material fact to that contract? A: No. Q: If you didn't make any false statements, then there was no falsity or intent in your mind, was there? A: Absolutely not. Q: And you had no intention to deceive anyone? A: Absolutely not. [759]. [*See also* 714-715, 763-766, 768-770, 774-779, 842, 855, 864-869, 882].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court ruled that this case is a fraud and CPPA case, not a fraudulent inducement case. [631-632].

#### C. <u>The Construction Budgets that Carl Prepared</u>

Carl "prepared 50 budgets" "over the life of the [the project]" and kept editing them along the way. [858]. These budgets had "profit from the beginning and there was a profit at the end. At the 50<sup>th</sup> budget, there was still a \$200,000 profit. [858-859].

## D. <u>The Amendments to the Contract, the Huangs' Monetary Deposits and</u> the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC's Monetary Withdrawals

Carl testified as to the purpose of each amendment to the contract and what was done with the funds received from the Huangs, and also testified that he did not commit fraud with regard to the money received from the Huangs. [864-869].

## E. <u>The Contract Did Not Require the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to Disclose</u> <u>Liens on the Property to the Huangs</u>

At the time the contract was signed, the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC owned the land, subject to an "acquisition loan" and an "investor loan." [701]. In total, there was approximately \$1.5 Million in debt on the property prior to the Huangs entering into the initial contract in April 2017. [758-763]. Carl testified that the "acquisition loan would have to be modified" after the contract with the Huangs was signed, "to include the construction of the house." [701]. At the time of the contract, the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC had already started construction on the house, which was then modified to the Huangs' specifications. [702]. After the Huangs made their initial deposit, the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC repaid an existing \$120,000 loan from the 2812

University Terrace LLC to the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC. Carl and Geoffrey (through their LLCs) moved money from one housing project that they were working on to another using an accounting system called "due to and due from," where "we would loan money from one project to another, depending on where it was needed." [758-763]. Carl testified that it was not normal for him to disclose any existing liens on properties with the buyer, but that Larry Huang's father, who was a "very seasoned, acute, intelligent businessman who understands how these projects work," "understood that there was financing involved," and that "there was a construction loan." [702, 763]. In any event, the contract provided that the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC would deliver "[f]ee simple title to the Property," "free of liens," but did not require the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to disclose any such liens. [331].

#### F. <u>The Contract did not Prohibit the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC from</u> <u>Shifting Money to Other Projects</u>

Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 36 was a document that the Huangs prepared for litigation that purports to be a spreadsheet showing funds moving from the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to other entities affiliated with Carl and Geoffrey. [504-518]. During cross-examination on this exhibit, Carl testified that there were five LLCs and six houses that he and Geoffrey were working on at the same time as the Huangs' house, and funds flowed as loans between and among these projects. [730-732]. Carl testified that Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 36 is incomplete as it only "shows primarily cash out and their cash in. It doesn't show cash in from other sources," for example, construction loans and investor funds or payoffs of mechanics' liens as evidenced by

Defense Trial Exhibits 5 and 6. [504-518, 534-537, 831-834, 840-842]. Carl was asked "[w]hat was the purpose of the loans into [the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC] which are reflected on [Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 36] prior to the execution of the contract?" to which he responded, "There was excess cash from some of the other entities that were loaned to 1436 prior to the Huangs' contract during 2015 and 2016." "So that was income coming in. For example, we sold 2812 [University Terrace]. We made \$500,000 to \$600,000. Some of that money was loaned to [the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC]." [504-518, 840-842]. Since the home was already under construction at the time the Huangs signed the contract, Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 36 does not account for the funds used for "preparatory work." [840-842]. Carl testified that "there wasn't any comingling of money. It was loans back and forth to entities under the same umbrella." [770-773].

#### G. The Bank's Failure to Release Funds to the 1436 Foxhall Road LLC

Carl was asked "And during the course of construction of 1436, because of or in spite of these payments, did they have any effect on your ability or your belief that you would be able to deliver [the home] to the Huangs as originally contracted with the change orders?" to which he responded, "Absolutely not." [770-773]. In response to the trial court judge's questions, "[W]ere you overleveraged on all these houses?" and "Were you using the money from Mr. Huang that he was giving to you or sent for [the home] and using it on these other projects that you had?" Carl responded: 'No.' 'late in the summer, there was some of his money that went to the other projects, but mostly it was construction money and/or the investor money. Now, the investor had \$250,000, which is in addition to the bank loan. So we had two million from the bank plus the investor.' [749-754].

In response to the trial judge's question, "[I]t was around the time of summer of 2018 that you started using some of the money that Mr. Huang had paid to pay for the costs relating to other contracts?" Carl responded, "Yes. We loaned to other entities." [750-751]. The trial judge then asked, "So you were overleveraged?" to which Carl responded:

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