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

Pickering Hale & Dorr, LLP, 68 A.3d 697, 709 (D.C. 2013). Further, the complaint must provide more than mere labels and conclusions. Grayson v. AT&T Corp., 980 A.2d 1137, 1144 (D.C. 2009).

Judge Lopez found that the Amended Complaint sufficiently pled a claim for Fraud and a violation of the CCPA. He concluded that based upon the allegations and facts pled in the Amended Complaint, it was plausible that the Defendants knowingly made false misrepresentations to Plaintiffs about funds needed for the construction of their home, or for the purchase of real property, in order to obtain advanced funding.

The District of Columbia recognizes a viable claim for fraud where there is (1) a false representation, (2) in reference to a material fact, (3) made with knowledge of its falsity, (4) with the intent to deceive, and (5) an action taken in reasonable reliance upon the misrepresentation. *Higgs v. Higgs*, 472 A.2d 875, 876 (D.C. 1984).

The Court specifically found the following:

- 1. The Amended Complaint alleged that Carl made false representations with regard to the material fact of how Plaintiffs' money would be expended prior to and after the execution of the Contract.
- 2. The Amended Complaint sets forth that Carl made representations that funds advanced by the Plaintiffs would be put towards either the construction of the home, or purchase of the Property.
- 3. The Amended Complaint alleged that those representations were false, based upon Carl's transfer of Plaintiffs' funds certain LLCs that were

beneficially owned or controlled by him that were not participating in or attached the Project for which the Plaintiffs designated the funds.

- 4. The Amended Complaint further sets forth that the misrepresentations were made with knowledge of falsity and intent to deceive the Plaintiffs based upon Defendants' immediate misappropriation of funds.
- 5. The Amended Complaint alleged that Carl requested Plaintiffs to advance funds for some reason related to the construction of their home or purchase of the Property. However, Carl either immediately or soon hereafter transferred Plaintiffs' funds to the other LLCs, rather than paying off the debts of the Project or the Property.

The Plaintiffs asserted that they relied upon the misrepresentations by Carl, as evidenced by the Plaintiffs advancing the funds in the amounts requested. Plaintiffs put forth that they reasonably relied on Carl's representations that the funds needed to be advanced in order to keep the Project moving. Plaintiffs executed at least ten change orders to the Contract that were based upon representations made by Carl.

Judge Lopez concluded that the Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon those misrepresentations in advancing the funds requested. The Court therefore determined that the Amended Complaint set forth sufficient facts and allegations that gave rise to the plausibility that Plaintiffs were entitled to relief for Fraud, so accordingly he denied the Motion to Dismiss the Fraud claim.

Defendant also moved to dismiss the claim for violation of the CPPA for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted, but Judge Lopez found that the Amended Complaint sufficiently plead a viable claim for violation of the CPPA because the claim under the CPPA was similar to, but with a lower standard of proof, than that of Fraud.

Defendant argued that the party under the Contract was 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC, not him personally, and thus that entity was the only possible "merchant" to the transaction, since he was only performing on behalf of the entity. However, under the CPPA, the definition of "merchant" did not provide the distinction in which he asserted, and this the definition did not provide a shield to an individual person's liability for the work they perform for an organized entity.

In *Luna v. A.E. Eng'g Servs., LLC*, 938 A.2d 744 (D.C. 2007), the Court of Appeals determined that it was premature to dismiss claims against an individual in their personal capacity, where the individual conducted business through an LLC. The Court held that the extent of an individual defendant's "participation in and responsibility for the alleged tort [is] a quintessential question of fact that [cannot] be answered at the pleading stage." *Luna* at 938 A.2d 744, 748-49 (D.C. 2007).

Judge Lopez found that in the instant matter, it was similarly premature to dismiss the claims against Carl for violation of the CPPA, as his participation in and responsibility for such violations are were quintessential question of fact that could not be answered at the pleading stage.

The Amended Complaint contained specific allegations and issues of fact that could not "be answered at the pleading stage," and thus the Court denied the Motion

as the claims for Fraud and violation of the CPPA were proper. Therefore, the Motion to Dismiss was properly denied, and no reversible error occurred.

## II. THE COURT'S DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS NOT APPEALABLE

A "denial of a motion for summary judgment is not reviewable on appeal, either during trial or after trial." *Hammond v. Weekes*, 621 A.2d 838, 839 n. 1 (D.C. 1993) (citations omitted); *Allen v. Yates*, 870 A.2d 39, 45 (D.C. 2005).

Accordingly, the issue of whether Judge Lopez erred in denying the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment is not properly before this Court so no reversible error has occurred.

### III. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING DEFENDANT LIABLE AT TRIAL FOR FRAUD AND FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE CPPA

The Defendant is arguing that Judge Williams erred because the issue of Defendant's "liability" turned on the Plaintiffs' claims that Carl made false statements regarding prior liens on the Property prior to 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC entering into the Contract with the Huangs. Defendant's argument belies what actually occurred at trial. The Court ruled that this case was a Fraud and CPPA case. Based on the evidence, which included hundreds of emails and documents and the testimony of Carl and Larry over two full days, Judge Williams correctly found that the Plaintiffs had proven that the Defendant had committed common law Fraud and violated of the CPPA.

At trial, Larry testified that Defendant Carl made false representations before signing the Contract, and also concerning Addendum #1, Amendments # 1, 2, 8, 9, and 10 to the Contract, and Change Orders # 1, 2, 3, 5 6, 7, 9, 10, and 11.

The Huangs would not have entered the Contract, or paid over \$1 million to 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC, had they known they would not go to closing. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 116:6-15. Carl denied making any material misrepresentation and maintained that he believed he could have closed on the Contract if given the opportunity to resolve the cash deficiency problems.

Larry testified that, before executing the Contract, Carl falsely represented that 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC owned the Property free and clear, and that no encumbrances existed. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 44:7-13, 48:24-25, 49:1-9, 52:18-22, 60:6-25. He also testified that Carl falsely represented that he had already sold another property, or had a ready and willing buyer. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 44: 9-13, 48:24-25, 49:1-9, 53:8-16, 60:5-13.

Stewart Title confirmed that the Bank held the first lien for a \$2 million construction loan, and Carl's close friend Lance Estes held the second lien position with a \$250,000 secured investor loan. (The Huangs held the third lien position as the buyers.) Trial Transcript (Day 1) 219:10-25, 220:1-25, 221:1-12, 223:10-16; Trial Transcript (Day 2) 27:24-25, 28:1-11. Carl testified that 1436 Foxhall Road LLC received between \$1.5 million and \$2.25 million of initial loan funding for the

Property before the Huangs agreed to purchase it in April 2017. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 187:6-10, 188:14-17.

The Parties executed an addendum simultaneously with the Contract and agreed to various amendments and change orders throughout their contractual relationship. The Huangs agreed to make certain deposits or release funds from escrow in exchange for Carl and Geoffrey making revisions to the original construction plans. The Huangs alleged that Carl made material misrepresentations concerning Addendum #1, the First, Second, Eight, Ninth, and Tenth Amendments to the Contract, and Change Orders #1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, and 11.

Through each of these documents, the Huangs allowed Stewart Title to release money to 1436 Foxhall Road LLC, in reliance on Carl's representations that he would use the money to speed up Property construction or to pay contractors for work completed at the Property. Instead, Carl diverted the funds from 1436 Foxhall Road LLC to other projects, thereby creating a cash deficiency.

Larry testified that had the Huangs known that the money they advanced would not be used towards the Property, or to pay contractors who completed work at the Property, they never would have agreed to release the funds. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 32:8-11, 73:11-19, 78:23-25, 79:22-25, 81:11-25, 86:12-17, 87:9-13, 88:24-25, 89:1-11. Carl maintained that he did not make any misstatements or false representations, especially in reference to the documents that all Parties signed

and mutually agreed to. Trial Transcript (Day 2) 67:6-25, 68:1-22, 69:1-17.

The Parties executed the Addendum and each of the Amendments and Change Orders at issue. By executing the First and Second Amendments, 1436 Foxhall Road LLC agreed to replace the existing Second Deed of Trust on the Property with a Security Second Deed of Trust for \$250,000 in favor of the Huangs and to raise the amount secured in favor of the Huangs to \$500,000. Plaintiffs asserted that they were never given a second lien position and remained unsecured creditors. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 73:23-25, 74:1-21; Trial Transcript (Day2) 127:1-14, 128:1-4.

Carl insisted that he intended to provide the Huangs with the second lien position. Trial Transcript (Day 2) 14:1-12, 65:8-21. Specifically, he claims that he prepared the Modified Deed of Second Trust to move the Huangs to the second security position, that he sent a copy of the document to Larry Huang, and that it was Stewart Title's fault for not ensuring that the Huangs were in the second lien position. Trial Transcript (Day 1) 225:3-9; Trial Transcript (Day 2) 36:24- 35, 37:1-13. The bottom line is that no such Modified Deed of Second Trust was timely filed and the Huangs were never actually given a second lien position of the \$500,000 and remained unsecured creditors, to their detriment.

Contrary to Carl's argument, Larry testified to each element of fraud, as detailed above. Judge Williams properly found that, based on all the evidence, Carl had committed common law Fraud and had violated the CPPA by misrepresenting

that there were no encumbrances on the Property, and by promising to pay contractors for work completed when he knew that 1436 Foxhall Road LLC did not have sufficient funds to pay them.

To prevail on a common law fraud claim, a plaintiff must establish by clear and convincing evidence that there was: "(1) a false representation (2) in reference to material fact, (3) made with knowledge of its falsity, (4) with the intent to deceive, and (5) action is taken in reliance upon the representation." *Pearson v. Soo Chung*, 961 A.2d 1067, 1074 (D.C. 2008) (citation omitted); *Saucier v. Countrywide Home Loans*, 64 A.3d 428, 438 (D.C. 2013) (quoting *Fort Lincoln Civic Ass'n, Inc. v. Fort Lincoln New Town Corp.*, 944 A.2d 1055, 1074 n.22 (D.C. 2008)).

Plaintiffs may establish a false representation by providing "either an affirmative misrepresentation or a failure to disclose a material fact when a duty to disclose that fact has arisen." *Saucier*, 64 A.3d at 438 (quoting *Rothenberg v. Aero Mayflower Transit Co., Inc.*, 495 F. Supp. 399 (D.D.C. 1980)). A misrepresentation is "an assertion that is not in accord with the facts." *Id.* (quoting *Sarete, Inc. v. 1344 U Street Ltd. P'ship*, 871 A.2d 480, 493 (D.C. 2005)). "A misrepresentation is material if it would be likely to induce a reasonable person to manifest his assent, or if the maker knows that it would be likely to induce the recipient to do so." *Id.* at 439.

Plaintiffs may prove that a defendant had knowledge of the falsity of their representations "by showing that the statements were 'recklessly and positively made without knowledge of their truth." *Id.* (internal citations and brackets omitted). Evidence of common law fraud is clear and convincing if it "will produce in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the facts sought to be established." *Lumpkins v. CSL Locksmith, LLC*, 911 A.2d 418, 426 n.7 (D.C. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted). In other words, "the truth of factual contentions [must] be 'highly probable' or substantially more likely to be true than untrue." *In re Gaskins*, 265 A.3d 997, 1002 (D.C. 2021) (citing *Colorado v. New Mexico*, 467 U.S. 310, 316 (1984)).

The Court found that Carl was fraudulent in (1) telling the Huangs that there were no encumbrances on the Property, (2) that 2905 University Terrace had already sold or had a buyer, and (3) by promising to pay for Francis Lawn and Action Fabricator's services when he knew that 1436 Foxhall Road, LLC would not have the money to pay them without increasing the Purchase Price.

"Findings of fact, whether based on oral or other evidence, must not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and the reviewing court must give due regard to the trial court's opportunity to judge the witnesses' credibility." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 52(a)(6). A finding is clearly erroneous "when, although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm

conviction that a mistake has been committed." *United States v. United States Gypsum Co.*, 333 U.S. 364, 395 (1948).

Judge Williams found that although Larry's testimony was the only evidence of Carl's oral misrepresentations, Carl did not refute these allegations at trial. Relying on Carl's representations that there were no encumbrances and that Carl had already sold one of his recent home constructions, Plaintiffs executed the Contract for the purchase of the Property. As such, Carl is liable for common law Fraud for his pre-contractual misrepresentations.

# IV. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING DEFENDANT LIABLE FOR PRE-CONTRACT STATEMENTS ALTHOUGH THE CONTRACT CONTAINED AN INTEGRATION CLAUSE

Defendant argues that in *Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607 (D.C. 2010), the Court of Appeals found an integration clause bars representations not contained in a contract even when the plaintiffs allege fraudulent inducement to enter the contract. At the trial, counsel for Defendant attempted to cross-examine Larry on this issue, and Plaintiffs' counsel objected. Judge Williams addressed this issue as follows:

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: The contract in April 2017 contained what's called an entireties clause, would you agree?

MR. HUANG. I don't know what that is.

MR. CHARDIET: Your Honor, objection. He's going into legal issues which Judge Lopez has already decided is not relevant here in his order.

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: That was on the summary judgment.

MR. CHARDIET: Correct.

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: That doesn't mean that it's not relevant here at trial.

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: Mr. Huang, there was a statement within this contract and in the statement states: This contract must --

THE COURT: What contract is this? What section are you at?

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: It's the entireties clause.

THE COURT: But what page is that?

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: It's toward the end, Your Honor. It might be the last paragraph.

MR. CHARDIET: Your Honor, page 7 of Judge Lopez's order and denial of the motion specifically addresses this issue. It said that it should not be part of the case. Defendant argued that because the contract at issue contained an integration clause, plaintiff cannot rely on any statements not in the contract. The statements that were the basis of fraud counts were opinions open, not material facts the plaintiff should have relied on. Both arguments were previously addressed by this Court in the order issued on April 17, 2019. As previously stated, both arguments are unpersuasive. I would argue that this is the law of the case. That's a legal issue. That's not a question of fact, which why your motion for summary judgment was not granted. And it was not granted on that issue at all. So it's just a question of law.

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: Your Honor, so we are clear, I cannot ask about the entireties clause?

THE COURT: If it's already been resolved by Judge Lopez --

MR. CHARDIET: It has twice. It's called the law of the case, Judge.

THE COURT: I know what that is. I'm not talking about that. What I'm saying is if it has already been resolved that the case is going to move forward in spite of that integration clause because a legal determination has already been made that it does not void Mr. Huang's arguments, then we don't need to address it.

THE COURT: But your motion for summary judgment was denied; right?

MR. J.P. SZYMKOWICZ: Correct.

THE COURT: Which means --

MR. CHARDIET: What was --

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